
 

Standards and General Purposes Committee agenda 

Date: Thursday 14 July 2022 

Time: 2.00 pm 

Venue: The Oculus, Buckinghamshire Council, Gatehouse Road, Aylesbury HP19 8FF 

Membership: 

T Broom (Chairman), M Baldwin, R Carington, B Chapple OBE, S Chhokar, P Gomm, T Green, 
S Lambert, R Matthews, H Mordue, C Oliver, L Smith BEM, M Smith and D Thompson 

Webcasting notice 

Please note: this meeting may be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via the council's 
website. At the start of the meeting the chairman will confirm if all or part of the meeting is 
being filmed. 

You should be aware that the council is a data controller under the Data Protection Act. 
Data collected during this webcast will be retained in accordance with the council’s 
published policy. 

Therefore by entering the meeting room, you are consenting to being filmed and to the 
possible use of those images and sound recordings for webcasting and/or training purposes. 
If members of the public do not wish to have their image captured they should ask the 
committee clerk, who will advise where to sit. 

If you have any queries regarding this, please contact the monitoring officer at 
monitoringofficer@buckinghamshire.gov.uk. 

Agenda Item 
 

Page No 

1 Appointment of Vice-Chairman  
   
2 Apologies  
   
3 Minutes 3 - 12 
 To approve as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting held on 18 

May 2022 and 14 April, copy attached. 
 

 

mailto:monitoringofficer@buckinghamshire.gov.uk


4 Declarations of Interest  
 Members to declare any interests. 

 
 

5 Compliments and Complaints Report 2021-22 To Follow 
 To consider the report. 

 
Contact Officer: Jennifer Griffin 
 

 

6 Member Code of Conduct Complaints - Quarterly Review and 
Benchmarking 

13 - 28 

 To consider the attached report. 
 
Contact Officer:  Nick Graham/ Glenn Watson  
 

 

7 Electoral Review Working Group - Update report on current position To Follow 
 To consider the report. 

 
Contact Officer:  Nick Graham/ Glenn Watson  
 

 

8 Work Programme 29 - 30 
   
9 Date of Next Meeting  
 20 October 2022 

 
 

 
If you would like to attend a meeting, but need extra help to do so, for example because of 
a disability, please contact us as early as possible, so that we can try to put the right support 
in place. 

For further information please contact: Clare Gray - democracy@buckinghamshire.gov.uk 
on , email democracy@buckinghamshire.gov.uk. 



 

 

Standards and General Purposes Committee minutes 

Minutes of the meeting of the Standards and General Purposes Committee held on 
Wednesday 18 May 2022 in The Oculus, Buckinghamshire Council, Gatehouse Road, 
Aylesbury HP19 8FF. 

Members present 

M Baldwin, T Broom, B Chapple OBE, S Chhokar, D Dhillon, P Gomm, T Green, S Lambert, 
R Matthews, H Mordue, C Oliver, L Smith BEM and M Smith 

Apologies 

R Carington and D Thompson 

Agenda Item 

1 Apologies 
 Apologies were received from Cllr R Carington and Cllr D Thompson.  

 
2 Election of Chairman 

RESOLVED – 
 That Councillor Broom be elected Chairman of the Committee for the ensuing year.  

 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Standards and General Purposes Committee minutes 

Minutes of the meeting of the Standards and General Purposes Committee held on 
Thursday 14 April 2022 in The Oculus, Buckinghamshire Council, Gatehouse Road, HP19 8FF, 
commencing at 2.00 pm and concluding at 3.30 pm. 

Members present 

T Broom, M Baldwin, R Carington, B Chapple OBE, S Chhokar, T Green, S Lambert, 
R Matthews, H Mordue, C Oliver, L Smith BEM, M Smith and D Thompson 

Apologies 

P Gomm 

Agenda Item 

1 Apologies 
 Apologies were received from Cllr P Gomm.  

 
2 Minutes 
 The Minutes of the Meeting held on 17 March 2022 were agreed as a correct record.  

 
3 Declarations of Interest 
 There were no declarations of interest.  

 
4 Annual Review of Code of Conduct and Complaints Procedure 
 The Committee received the Annual Review of the Code of Conduct and Complaints 

procedure. The Committee had oversight of Member Code of Conduct Complaints 
both for this Council and for parish and town councils. The report provided an 
annual review of the complaints received during 2021/22 and of the effectiveness of 
the arrangements for handling them. The report addressed concerns and queries 
raised by the Committee during the year, which included greater transparency about 
the timeliness and nature of member code of conduct complaints.  
 
The following points were made by the Principal Governance Officer:- 
 

 The Committee noted in the Autumn that complaints had not always moved 
on, during the year, as swiftly as envisaged within the procedures. Partly this 
was due to resourcing, which was supplemented early in the New Year. It 
was also noted that the earliest stages of the process were important. There 

Page 5

Appendix 



 

 

was an essential element of information exchange at these stages: clarifying 
the complaint, ensuring that the person complained about had an 
opportunity to respond; and the complainant then being asked if they were 
satisfied or not. 

 Only one breach of the Code was formally found; and the average time taken 
to complete a case was as follows; average time taken for Buckinghamshire 
councillors (7 complaints 0 breaches) - 2.5 weeks, and for Parish/Town 
councillors (27 complaints, 1 breach) -5 weeks 

 Other than one town council complaint (raised by seven complainants), 
which reached Stage 3, all other complaints were concluded at either Initial 
Assessment or Stage 1. 

 The most alleged breach was against the principle of ‘Respect’; that a 
councillor failed to demonstrate respect to an individual or to the 
community. When looking at information provided by the Standards of 
Public Life Committee 83-85% of Councils which had complaints said that at 
least one or two of those had been about the principle of respect in the 
January 2019 report. The Local Government Association (LGA) guidance 
stated that respect could be quite subjective. The next largest trigger for a 
complaint had been a concern about member interests. 

 Only eight complaints were currently live, all relating to parish and town 
councils. Seven of these allegations related to one parish councillor, over 
four separate matters. They were being taken together and were currently at 
Stage 2. The eighth was an outstanding matter from 2021/22 which would 
shortly be concluded within Stage 1. 

 Comparatively, the LGA guidance indicated a target of 10 days for Stage 1 
and 5 days to review the comments of the subject member. Buckinghamshire 
Council’s target was 20 days to enable a thorough engagement in the first 
stage of the investigation although this was balanced against the need to be 
swift as a complaint can be damaging to the reputation of the subject 
member. It was important that procedures were proportionate. Officers 
therefore intended to carry out a benchmarking exercise against a range of 
other authorities’ procedures to identify if there were changes that could be 
made to timeframes or the approach generally. The outcome of that review 
would be reported to the next meeting of the Committee. 

 Given the number of complaints relating to parish and town councils, the 
Monitoring Officer would also be liaising with the Buckinghamshire and 
Milton Keynes Association of Local Councils to explore what training could 
usefully be offered to members of parish and town councils, and their clerks, 
about code of conduct matters. 

 
During discussion Members made the following points:- 
 

 The Chairman put on record his thanks to officers for dealing with the issues 
raised by Members at previous meetings. 

 A Member expressed concern that Buckinghamshire Council bore the cost of 
investigations and hearings and that parish and town councils should be 
made more aware of this and provide good training to avoid complaints 

Page 6



 

 

being raised in the first place. He also commented that some complaints 
could be related to personality clashes. The Service Director Legal and 
Democratic Services said that he would be liaising with parish and town 
councils about what training should be provided, including providing bespoke 
training where required.  

 A Member suggested that further detail should be provided about the nature 
of each complaint (without breaching confidence) and the source of it (e.g. 
member of the public, councillor or staff) to gain a better understanding of 
the root causes. Concern was also expressed about the lack of a specific 
timescale for the initial triaging assessment.  

 The Principal Governance Officer reported that 17 of the complaints were 
made by councillors which was a significant percentage. The benchmarking 
exercise would provide useful background to a review of timescales.  

 The Service Director Legal and Democratic Services reported that it was 
important to respect confidentiality although the complaint could be made 
public at stage 3 

 It was considered that it would be helpful to have some comparative 
information over previous years to identify whether processes were 
improving.  

 A suggestion was made that regular training should be given to town and 
parish councils as councillors, clerks and policies changed. In addition it was 
difficult to mention locations as many parish councils were quite small and it 
would make it easy to identify individuals. The first stage of the investigation 
should be thorough with reasonable timescales to avoid moving into Stage 2.  

 With reference to 2.18 of the report Members noted that not all Parish and 
Town Councils were members of the Bucks and Milton Keynes Association of 
Local Councils therefore training should also be offered through the Society 
of Local Council Clerks. The Member also expressed concern about respect in 
the Council Chamber and suggested it would be helpful to have further 
training on this. The Service Director Legal and Democratic Services reported 
that regular training was given to parish and town clerks and also bespoke 
training was offered to those Council who were not affiliated with BMKALC. 
Annual refresher training would be given for unitary councillors after the 
Annual Council in May which would include code of conduct training. The 
Chairman reported that robust and vigorous debate was expected in the 
Council chamber which was managed by the Chairman who would intervene 
if any Members were disrespectful.  

 In response to a question as to whether parish and town councils should 
have their own policy to deal with complaints, the Service Director 
responded that the Localism Act 2011 stated that the upper tier authorities 
should deal with the code of conduct and complaints. In terms of getting 
parish and town councils to deal with the complaint in the first instance 
where relevant the Council had sometimes put them in touch with mediators 
to help resolve issues such as a breakdown of relationships or personality 
clashes.  

 Clarity was given that the complaints reported at the meeting had been 
made from a number of sources including residents. Following this a Member 

Page 7



 

 

commented that the number of complaints was quite low when looking at 
the number of parish,  town and unitary councillors in Buckinghamshire 
which demonstrated a robust system.  

 The process for making a complaint was on the website which included an 
online form https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/your-council/contact-and-
complaints/complain-about-councillor/. Council staff, Parish and town clerks 
would also give out the Monitoring Officer’s email address when requested. 

 A Member referred to Appendix 1 of the report and the instances where the 
Appendix referred to the Code principle of ‘Respect’ and then said either ‘No 
breach’ or ‘Not within Code’; the Member asked what this differentiation 
meant. 

 The Principal Governance Officer reported that those mentioning ‘Not within 
Code’ was an outcome of the initial triaging assessment; whereas those 
referring to ‘No breach’ indicated those which passed the triage but were 
then found not to have substance under the formal procedures. 

 A suggestion was made that it would be helpful to have a contact number 
where the complaint could be discussed in the first instance as an informal 
resolution to the complaint may be found earlier before a formal complaint 
was made. The Service Director Legal and Democratic Services reported that 
both he and the Principal Governance Officer did speak to people on the 
phone as part of an initial triage of complaints where appropriate.  

 It was confirmed that standards of dress for formal meetings would not 
ordinarily be a matter for the Code of Conduct; and that should this ever be 
necessary, it would be a matter of informal guidance, as had occurred when 
formal meetings were held solely online during the pandemic. 

 
RESOLVED that the annual review of the Member Code of Conduct complaints for 
2021/22 be noted including the proposed actions for 2022/23 regarding procedures, 
timeframes, and training (in paragraphs 2.17-2.18). 
 

5 Constitutional Changes 
 The Committee received a report on the proposed updates to the Council’s 

constitution to allow for better and more transparent decision making. Under s9P 
Local Government Act 2000 the Council was required to prepare and keep up to 
date a Constitution containing the standing orders of the Council and such other 
information as was required or was desirable. Buckinghamshire Council’s 
Constitution was effective as from 1 April 2020 and was regularly reviewed to ensure 
the Council’s operation was properly supported and governed by the Constitution. 
The last review took place in April 2021. 
 
Oversight of the Constitution was shared between the Audit and Governance 
Committee and the Standards and General Purposes Committee. The power to 
change the Constitution was reserved to full Council via recommendation from the 
Standards and General Purposes Committee. The Monitoring Officer also had 
delegated authority to make amendments to ensure the Council conducted itself 
lawfully, and minor amendments where appropriate. 
 

Page 8

https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/your-council/contact-and-complaints/complain-about-councillor/
https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/your-council/contact-and-complaints/complain-about-councillor/


 

 

A Constitution Members Working Group consisting of the Chairmen and Vice- 
Chairmen of both the Audit and Governance Committee and the Standards and 
General Purposes Committee had met a number of times to consider proposed 
changes and provided initial comments to help inform the review of the Constitution 
as required by full Council. 
 
During discussion the following points were noted:- 
 

 A Member expressed concern about the high level text used in Appendix 1 of 
the report. The Service Director Legal and Democratic Services reported that 
the changes were set out in principle to allow drafting of the proposed 
changes to take account of member feedback, further legal input or ensure 
other affected parts of the Constitution could be amended accordingly. It 
was therefore recommended that the Monitoring Officer determined the 
final wording of the in-principle proposals and any associated/incidental 
amendments with the approval of the Constitution Working Group, and to 
then change the Constitution accordingly together with any other necessary 
incidental amendments.  

 The Member then further expressed concern about the change to 
Community Boards which was to provide a comprehensive Terms of 
Reference for Community Boards to include provision for membership in the 
Constitution.  The Service Director Legal and Democratic Services reported 
that the framework document for Community Boards had been formulated 
and the terms of reference would be drafted in accordance with that practice 
and enshrined in the Constitution therefore there would be no change to the 
current working of Community Boards. The Constitution was constantly 
under review and any changes could be made in the forthcoming year if 
there were any concerns about the drafting. Another Member commented 
that Community Boards did operate on a different basis across 
Buckinghamshire and it would be good to find the optimal model. Concern 
was expressed about the transparency of the budgetary process which could 
be undertaken via email but then still had to go through a process with the 
Cabinet Member for Communities with no recall back to the Board. The 
review of the terms of reference was a big piece of work as the Community 
Boards were the main mechanism linking into communities. A scrutiny 
review had also been undertaken on Community Boards where the terms of 
reference had been discussed and this information could be used as part of 
this review. A proposal was then put that the terms of reference of 
Community Boards should be reviewed by the Constitution Working Group.  

 Reference was made to the Planning changes particularly extending the right 
of Call in to ‘Permission in Principle’ planning applications  which were 
currently only dealt with by officers. Those did not extend to how a Chairman 
of a Planning Committee could prevent an item going to Committee because 
of their role when Members wanted it to go to Committee. The Member had 
specifically asked for that change. Another Member expressed concern about 
call-in and that this was a decision for the Chairman in consultation with the 
lead officer if one Member called-in the decision. If three Members called it 

Page 9



 

 

in then it would be automatically considered by the Committee. The length 
of time objectors had to speak at the Planning Committees should also be 
reviewed, particularly with large developments as currently the speaking 
time was not adequate. The Service Director Legal and Democratic Services 
reported that the Planning Committee was quasi-judicial and all parties had 
to have the same amount of time. If this should be increased this would need 
to be discussed by the Planning Committee Chairman in the first instance. 
The call in facility was essentially a request by Members for the Committee 
to make a decision on a planning application rather than an officer making 
the decision under their delegated authority. The Member was obliged to 
consult with the Chairman as to whether it should be called in. There had to 
be some material issue for calling in a decision. The particular change in the 
constitution being made in Appendix 1 related to permission in principle 
which was not a planning consent but related to initial inquiries from 
applicants where the officers could give permission in principle for them to 
do further feasibility work before it came forward for planning permission. At 
the moment this power rested with the officer but was now being extended 
to councillors.  

 A Member commented that responsibility for reviewing the Constitution 
should be either under Audit and Governance or Standards and General 
Purposes not both Committees. In addition, the Opposition Group Leaders 
should be consulted on the changes to the Constitution. The Chairman 
clarified that the responsibility for making recommendations to Full Council 
did rest with the Standards and General Purposes Committee. However, 
because the Constitution was linked to the business of the Audit and 
Governance Committee any proposed changes were passed to them for 
comment. The other changes that had been suggested but were not included 
in the Appendix had been considered by the Working Group but not taken 
forward. Representations could be made when the final report was 
considered by Standards and General Purposes Committee and then 
submitted to Full Council for approval. The Member expressed concern that 
some Members of the Opposition Group were not called to ask their 
question at Full Council because of time pressures which did not allow them 
to air their views in full; it would be better to involve them at an earlier stage 
in the process. In response it was noted that if Opposition Members had any 
concerns with the running of Full Council they should contact the Chairman 
of the Council.  

 With regard to the anomaly in terms of the deadline for questions for Select 
Committees, this had been included in the changes to the constitution so 
that the public could submit their question after having sight of the agenda. 
This would be similar to the change made to the cabinet deadline for 
questions with 3 clear days.  

 A suggestion was made that Committees should elect Vice-Chairman rather 
than the Chairman appoint them. 

 Another Member commented that the role of the Vice-Chairman should be 
clarified.  

 In response to a question it was noted that the Constitution Working Group 

Page 10



 

 

had met approximately three times as and when required.  

 A Member welcomed the changes and commented that the Constitution was 
a living document. Particular reference was made to considering changes for 
those councillors who worked and could not attend pre-arranged group visits 
where a video recording of the site visit could be made available.  

 
It was proposed by Cllr B Chapple, seconded by Cllr R Carington and following a vote 
(with two abstentions);-  
 
RESOLVED  
 
1. That the proposed changes to the Constitution as set out in Appendix 1 be noted 
and endorsed; and  
 
RECOMMENDED that Full Council  
  
2. adopt the proposed changes; and 
3. approve the appropriate delegations to the Monitoring Officer, in consultation 
with the Members’ Constitutional Working Group, to finalise the textual changes to 
the constitution following approval of the principles as set out in Appendix 1 of the 
report. 
 

6 Buckinghamshire Electoral Review Update 
 On 17 March, the Committee agreed a draft submission to the Local Government 

Boundary Commission for England on a pattern of wards. In doing so, the 
Committee also recommended that Full Council on 27 April endorse the draft 
proposal for final submission to the Commission.  
  
The draft submission was made to the Commission ahead of the 4 April consultation 
deadline. The Committee had also agreed that the Electoral Review Working Group 
should continue to meet throughout the remaining stages of the electoral review. 
This was so that the Group could continue to play a useful cross-party role in refining 
the proposals in those respects where the Committee had agreed further work was 
needed; as well as advising the Committee by working alongside the Commission 
during its own information gathering phase and in considering the Commission’s 
own proposal, due to be consulted upon between July and September. 
  
The Committee agreed the proposed meeting dates for the Electoral Review 
Working Group as follows:  
  
12 May 2022 
16 June 2022 
25 July 2022 (Monday) 
11 August 2022 
8 September 2022 
 
 

Page 11



 

 

7 Draft Work Programme 2022/23 
 The draft Work Programme for 2022/23 was noted.  

 
An update was given on the Election Petition challenging  the results of the 
Totteridge and Bowerdean ward election held on 6 May 2021 by an unsuccessful 
candidate. There was a hearing in the High Court on 29 September 2021 following 
which the petitioner had been considering what action they would like to take. 
Respondents to the petition had subsequently applied for the petition to be 
dismissed and a hearing would be heard at the beginning of May 2022 to consider 
the application for dismissal. The Committee would be updated once the hearing 
had taken place.  
 

8 Date of Next Meeting 
 The dates of next meetings were noted as follows subject to approval at Full 

Council:- 
 
14 July 2022 – provisional 
20 October 2022 – provisional 
8 December 2022 – provisional 
13 April 2023 – provisional 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 12



Report to Standards and General 
Purposes Committee 
Date:      14 July 2022 

Title:  Member Code of Conduct Complaints – Quarterly 
Review and Benchmarking 

Relevant councillor(s):    

Author and/or contact officer:   Nick Graham, Service Director, Legal and Democratic. 
Contact officer Glenn Watson, Principal Governance 
Officer. 

Ward(s) affected:    

Recommendations:  (1) to note and comment upon the Quarter 1 (April to 
June 2022) report into Member Code of Conduct 
Complaints that were opened and/or closed in that 
period, as at Annexes 1-2;  

(2) to note and comment upon the Member Code of 
Conduct complaints currently open, as at Annex 3; 

(3) to note and comment upon the comparative review 

of the Council’s arrangements for reviewing Member 

Code of Conduct complaints, as at Annex 4 and at 

paragraphs 3.5 to 3.9. 

Reason for decision:    

The Committee is responsible for Member Code of Conduct complaints both for this Council 
and for parish and town councils.  As such, the Committee is being kept informed of recent 
and current complaints activity; and of the effectiveness of the Council’s Arrangements for 
dealing with complaints against councillors (the ‘Arrangements’). 

1. Executive summary 

1.1 This report provides the Committee with a review of the Member Code of Conduct 

complaints that were opened and/or closed during Quarter 1 (April to June 2022).  It 

updates the Committee on complaints currently in hand.  In both cases, as requested 

Page 13

Agenda Item 6



by the Committee, the updates now include an indication of the source of the 

complaint (e.g. public, fellow councillor) and of the nature of the alleged behaviour. 

1.2 The report also informs the Committee of the outcome of a recent benchmarking 

exercise during which the Council’s own Arrangements were compared with those 

adopted by other unitary authorities and the Local Government Association’s (LGA) 

best practice guidance. This indicates that the Council’s ‘Initial Assessment’ stage is 

lacking a defined timescale, although in practice, the Council normally complies with 

the 15-day timeframe. 

2. Quarter 1 - Review of Complaints 

2.1 Annexes 1 and 2 set out the Member Code of Conduct Complaints that were either 

opened or closed within Quarter 1 of this year i.e. between April and June 2022.   

a) Annex 1 relates to Parish and Town Council Complaints 

b) Annex 2 relates to Buckinghamshire Council Complaints 

Parish/Town Councils 

2.2 Four complaints were closed and none opened during April-June 2022.  Three 

related to the same incident.  Two complainants were fellow councillors and two 

were officers of the same council:  as such they were internal to the council and not 

raised by members of the public. The Code principles related mainly to an allegation 

of disrespect to fellow councillors and the public; one concerned an allegation of 

bullying.  In none of these cases was a breach found and each concluded at Stage 2 

of the Council’s Arrangements.   

2.3  As you will see from paragraph 2.6, three further complaints about this 
council/councillor are currently in progress. 

 
Buckinghamshire Council 
 

2.4 Two complaints were raised about a Buckinghamshire Councillor during April-June 
2022.  Both related to the same person and the same incident.  In both cases, the 
complainant was a fellow member of the Council.  Both were closed at the Initial 
Assessment stage as the context suggested that no Code principle was likely to have 
been breached.  

 
Importance of context 
 

2.5 An important factor in the closure of the complaints in Annexes 1 and 2 was that of 
context.  In the case of the parish/town councils, the context of the incidents was 
considered and, factually, it was found that the circumstances could not have led to 
a breach of the Code.  As regards the Buckinghamshire Council complaints, the 

Page 14



context was clearly one of robust freedom of speech in a political context which is 
protected by Article 10 under the Human Rights Act.   What some members may 
perceive as a lack of respect may very well come within the Article 10 provisions, 
which give a latitude to freedom of speech. This is when ‘context’ in any particular 
case becomes relevant under the Council’s Arrangements.  It is the Monitoring 
Officer’s intention that future training for councillors will include a clear focus on the 
nature of the Article 10 provisions to provide greater understanding of the extent 
and limitations of councillors’ freedom of speech.  

 
Current complaints 
 

2.6  Annex 3 sets out the complaints which are currently open, for either tier of local 
government. This shows that there are four complaints currently open. Three relate 
to the same council and councillor and are at Stage 3 (Investigation).  The other is 
currently at Stage 1, to determine the facts of the case and whether any informal 
resolution is possible. An ‘informal resolution’ does not involve finding whether a 
breach occurred; it seeks to resolve any issues without the need for formal 
procedures and to restore relationships.    

 
2.7 All of the open complaints relate to parish and town councils. Two were submitted 

by fellow councillors, two by officers.  As such, all the complaints arose ‘internally’. 
 
 Training for parish and town councils 
 
2.8 On Monday 4 July 2022, the Deputy Monitoring Officer gave a presentation to the 

local Association of Parish and Town Councils on the handling of member code of 
conduct complaints.  The purpose was further to acquaint parish and town 
councillors and their clerks on the nature of the complaints process. This was 
undertaken as part of the Council’s ongoing commitment to raising awareness of 
Code of Conduct matters among local councils.  It was noted by Committee 
previously that most of the complaints reviewed by this Council related to parish and 
town councillors. 

3. Comparison with other authorities  

3.1 At the last meeting of the Committee, it was noted that a comparison would be 

made of the Council’s Arrangements for dealing with Code complaints. This has been 

done against the Local Government Association (LGA) guidance on handling 

complaints; and against the arrangements adopted by other unitary authorities. 

3.2 It’s important to note that principal councils (i.e. not parish/town councils) are 

legally required to adopt arrangements for dealing with Member Code of Conduct 

complaints. However the law does not specify the format of such arrangements and 

it is for each council to determine them.  The Buckinghamshire Council 

Arrangements were adopted in 2020 and are contained in part H.3, page 189 of the 

Constitution 

Page 15

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling
https://buckinghamshire.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s43772/CouncilConstitution.pdf
https://buckinghamshire.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s43772/CouncilConstitution.pdf


3.3 Separately, the LGA has published best practice guidance on such arrangements.  In 

short, the Council’s Arrangements largely align with the LGAs guidance, as indicated 

below. As there is no required format, each authority’s arrangements 

understandably differ in some respects from each other. 

The Council’s Arrangements 

3.4 The Council’s arrangements consist of four parts: 

a) Initial Assessment: triaging each complaint to ensure it meets the 

thresholds for complaint – no timeframe specified but normally achieved 

within 10 working days. 

b) Stage 1:  an informal stage to verify facts and reach an informal resolution 

between the parties if possible  - target date of 20 working days for 

completion 

c) Stage 2: if unresolved at Stage 1, review by Monitoring Officer or Deputy, 

and consultation with Independent Person, to determine if proportionate to 

investigate at Stage 3 – target date of 20 working days for completion 

d) Stage 3:  if a formal investigation is needed then this will take place, as will 

any subsequent hearing by the Member Panel – normally within 6 months 

of the starting date of the decision to investigate 

Analysis 

3.5 Annex 4 sets out a comparison between this Council’s Arrangements and those 

proposed by the LGA and those adopt by ten other unitary councils.   

3.6 Initial Assessment:  the only clear point of difference between this Council’s 

Arrangements and the LGA guidance, is that this Council has not adopted a particular 

timeframe for completing the Initial Assessment (triaging). The LGA suggests 15 

working days.  Other authorities surveyed show a range between 10-20 working 

days.  In practice, a review of Buckinghamshire Council cases shows that the majority 

are completed within 10-15 working days in any case.   

3.7 Stages:  five of the 10 unitary authorities and the LGA guidance effectively blend our 

current Stages 1 (informal resolution) and 2 (determination whether to investigate) 

together.  In separating these out, Buckinghamshire Council is giving transparency to 

the kinds of considerations involved.  However, in practice this does not mean that 

Buckinghamshire has a lengthier process: those authorities that merge these stages 

either do so by means of a similar timeframe (40 days) or are open-ended as to the 

timeframe.  

Page 16



3.8 Timescales and process overall: the Buckinghamshire processes are consistent in 

timeframe with the best practice guidance of the LGA.  Our Arrangements include all 

the aspects that the LGA recommend in practice. 

3.9 Conclusion: the Council’s Arrangements do not have any significant aspects needing 

change as a result of the comparison and remain fit for purpose.  The Council’s 

practice is to issue Initial Assessments within 10-15 working days in any case, which 

complies with the LGA guidance as part of the Monitoring Officer’s current 

approach.  

4. Legal and financial implications 

4.1 This report does not contain any financial implications as no expenditure is involved 

in any of the recommendations.   

4.2 The Council is legally required under the Localism Act 2011 Section 28)6) to adopt 

arrangements for dealing with member code of conduct complaints both for its own 

councillors and for those of parish and town councils within its area.  The Council 

complied with this requirement by adopting arrangements in 2020. These are now 

contained within the Constitution at Section H.  This report does not raise any 

additional legal issues. It simply updates the Committee on the recent operation of 

the adopted Arrangements.   

5. Corporate implications  

5.1 This report is consistent with the Council’s commitment to good governance. The 

conduct of elected members is pivotal to public trust and to sound decision making.  

Reviewing the operation of the Arrangements adopted to deal with such complaints 

is a means of giving transparency and accountability to such arrangements.   

6. Next steps and review  

6.1 A further update on member code of conduct complaints will be presented to the 

Committee at each meeting, to give a quarterly picture of complaints opened, 

closed, and currently in hand.   

7. Background papers  

7.1 None. Hyperlinks have been provided within the report where necessary.  

Page 17



8. Your questions  

If you have any questions about the matters contained in this report please get in touch 
with the author of this report. This can be done by telephone 01296 387380. 
 
Nick Graham, Service Director of Legal and Democratic Services and Deputy Monitoring 
Officer 
Contact officer: Glenn Watson, Principal Governance Officer 

Page 18



Annex 1 
 
Quarter 1 (April to June 2022) – complaints opened and/or closed within this quarter 
 
Parish and Town Councils - Member Code of Conduct Complaints 
 

Complaint  Date of Complaint Date Closed Length/Stage 
Concluded 

Source Allegation/Code 
Principle 

Breach? 

1.  16 December 2021 5 May 2022 Stage 2 Fellow 
councillor 

Lack of respect; 
council into disrepute 
– leaving a meeting 
and rendering it 
inquorate 

No.  Context: not 
illegal or 
unconstitutional 

2.  20 December 2021 5 May 2022 Stage 2 Fellow 
councillor 

Lack of respect; 
council into disrepute 
– leaving a meeting 
and rendering it 
inquorate 

No.  Context: not 
illegal or 
unconstitutional 

3.  21 December 2021 5 May 2022 Stage 2 Officer Lack of respect; 
council into disrepute 
– leaving a meeting 
and rendering it 
inquorate 

No.  Context: not 
illegal or 
unconstitutional 

4.  3 February 2022 5 May 2022 Stage 2 Officer Bullied an officer  No.  Context was 
not bullying 

 

P
age 19

A
ppendix 



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Annex 2 
 
Quarter 1 (April to June 2022) – complaints opened and/or closed within this quarter 
 
Buckinghamshire Council - Member Code of Conduct Complaints 
 

Complaint  Date of Complaint Date Closed Source Length/Stage 
Concluded 

Allegation/Code 
Principle 

Breach? 

1.  11 May 2022 16 May 2022 Fellow councillor Initial Assessment Failure to show 
respect to fellow 
councillors and to 
correspondents in 
email communication 

No. Right to free 
speech; 
comment 
relevant to 
context. 

2.  12 May 2022 16 May 2022 Fellow councillor Initial Assessment Failure to show 
respect to fellow 
councillors and to 
correspondents in 
email communication 

No. Right to free 
speech; 
comment 
relevant to 
context. 

 

P
age 21

A
ppendix 



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Annex 3 
 
Quarter 1 (April to June 2022) – complaints currently open 
 
Member Code of Conduct Complaints 
 

Complaint  Date of Complaint Tier of council Source  Current Stage Allegation/Code 
Principle 

1.  27 June 2021 Parish Council Officer Stage 3 Investigation Bullying of officer 

2.  24 July 2021 Parish Council Fellow councillor Stage 3 Investigation Bullying of officer 

3.  28 February 2022 Parish Council  Officer Stage 3 Investigation Bullying of officer 

4.  20 June 2022 Parish Council Fellow councillor Stage 1 Lack of respect 

 

P
age 23

A
ppendix 



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Annex 4 – Comparison of Arrangements for Dealing with Member Code of Conduct Complaints  
 
 

Council Initial assessment Stage 1 Informal 
Resolution 

Stage 2 Determine if 
should proceed to 
formal investigation 

Stage 3 Formal 
Investigation 

Hearing 

Buckinghamshire Y – no timeframe Y – 20 working days Y – 20 working days 
(av.) 

Y – 6 months from 
decision to 
investigate 

Y – within same 6 
months 

Local Government 
Association – best 
practice guidance  

15 working days  Y – no date No – incorporated 
into Stage 1 

Y – no date:  
should be 
completed within 6 
months of decision 
to investigate 

Y  - between 14 
days and three 
months from date 
the investigation is 
completed  

Cornwall Y – 10 working days Y  
- 15 days for IP to 

review 
- +5 for reviewing 

subject member 
response 

Y  
- Review and 

decision by MO 
(within 28 days of 
subject member 
response) 

Y – request for 
review by subject 
member or 
complainant 
- 28 working 

days 

N 

Dorset Y – no timeframe Y – no timeframe  Y – no timeframe Stage 3/Hearing = 
same stage 

See Stage 3 

Durham Y – 20 working days 
(includes informal 
resolution by MO) 

Y – investigation stage  
(3 months max for 
investigation + MO 
decision time, no 
date) 

N N Y – no date 

Herefordshire Y – 15 working days Y – 35 working days 
- 25 for subject 

member plus 

Y – appeal stage by 
subject member 
found in breach 

No Y = hearing if 
needed (no date) 

P
age 25

A
ppendix 

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling


Council Initial assessment Stage 1 Informal 
Resolution 

Stage 2 Determine if 
should proceed to 
formal investigation 

Stage 3 Formal 
Investigation 

Hearing 

- 10 for response by 
MO 

- 14 days from date 
of St 1 decision 

- MO to review 
investigator 
report (no date) 

Isle of Wight Y – no date (after 10 
day ack) 

Y – no date Y – 30 working days No Y – 65 working 
days 

Milton Keynes N – subject member 
informed and asked 
for comments within 
14 working days 

Y – combined initial 
assessment and MO 
decision (no date) 

Y – involves panel 
view and 
investigation (3 
months) 

No Y – plus appeal 
stage (no date) 

North Northants Y – no date (‘as soon 
as possible’) 

Y – investigation stage 
(no date) 

N N Y – no date 

Shropshire Y – 20 working days 
(combined initial 
assessment and 
informal resolution 
stage) 

Y – investigation stage 
(no date) and local 
resolution 

N N Y – no date 

West Northants Y – no date 
(combined initial 
assessment and 
informal resolution 
stage) ‘ as soon as 
possible’ 

Y – investigation stage 
(no date) and local 
resolution 

N N Y – no date 
(request for 
review/appeal will 
be considered) 

Wiltshire Y – 15 days  Y – investigation stage 
(at least 40 working 

N N Y – no date 
(request for review 
will be considered) 

P
age 26



Council Initial assessment Stage 1 Informal 
Resolution 

Stage 2 Determine if 
should proceed to 
formal investigation 

Stage 3 Formal 
Investigation 

Hearing 

- 10 for subject 
member to 
respond 

- 5 for MO to 
consider 

- Includes informal 
resolution 

days + time for MO to 
review) 

 

P
age 27



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

BUCKINGHAMSHIRE COUNCIL 

STANDARDS AND GENERAL 

PURPOSES COMMITTEE 

WORK PROGRAMME 2022/23 

  

Page 29

Agenda Item 8



 

 

 

 

       14 July 2022 

 Local Government Boundary Commission for England – 

Electoral Review of Buckinghamshire Council 

 Compliments and Complaints Report 2021-22 

 Review of Standards Complaints process & 

Monitoring report 

 Work programme 

20 October 2022 

 Local Government Boundary Commission for England – 

Electoral Review of Buckinghamshire Council 

 Standards Complaints Monitoring Report  

 Constitution Working Group update  

 Work programme  

8 December 2022 

 Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman report  

 Local Government Boundary Commission for England – 

Electoral Review of Buckinghamshire Council 

 Constituency boundary proposals 

 Standards Complaints Monitoring report  

 Constitution Working Group update  

 Work programme  

13 April 2023 

 Annual review of code of conduct and complaints  

 Constitution Working Group update  

Page 30


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	Minutes Public Pack, 14/04/2022 Standards and General Purposes Committee
	Minutes


	6 Member Code of Conduct Complaints - Quarterly Review and Benchmarking
	Annex 1 Q1 April - June 2022
	Annex 2 Q1 April - June 2022
	Annex 3 April - June 2022
	Annex 4 Comparison with LGA and Unitary authorities

	8 Work Programme

